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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE  
DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 

 
NOVELTY DISTRIBUTORS, INC., 
D/B/A GREENFIELD LABS,  
351 W. Muskegon Drive 
Greenfield, IN  46140 
 
   Plaintiff, 
 
v. 
 
Michele Leonhart,      Case No. 
In her official capacity as 
Acting Administrator of the 
Drug Enforcement Administration; 
 
DRUG ENFORCEMENT  
ADMINISTRATION; 
 
US DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE; 
 
MICHAEL B. MUKASEY, 
In his official capacity as the 
Attorney General of the United States; 
and  
 
UNITED STATES 
OF AMERICA, 
 
   Defendants. 
 
 

COMPLAINT 
 

1.  Plaintiff Novelty Distributors, Inc. d/b/a Greenfield Labs (hereinafter 

“Novelty”) seeks a declaratory judgment and preliminary and permanent injunctive relief 

against Defendants, including an order dissolving the Drug Enforcement 

Administration’s (“DEA’s”) January 28, 2008 summary suspension of Novelty’s DEA 

registration.  Defendants, collectively, abused their discretion and acted arbitrarily and 

capriciously in violation of the Administrative Procedure Act, 5 U.S.C. § 706 and the 
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Controlled Substances Act, 21 U.S.C. § 801, et seq., by suspending the registration of 

Novelty as a List 1 chemical distributor and by prohibiting the sale of Novelty’s large and 

costly inventory of cold and cough products without prior notice and without bona fide 

proof of an imminent danger to the public health and safety under 21 U.S.C. § 824 (d).  In 

Defendants’ Order to Show Cause and Immediate Suspension of Registration, they allege 

eight grounds in support of immediate suspension.  Four of the eight grounds are 

demonstrably false.  One is derived from a misreading of the law and a misconstruction 

of the facts.  Two wrongly attribute to Novelty actions that are not is own but are those of 

others not under Novelty ownership, operation or control.  One charge is based on an 

empirically incorrect estimation of legitimate, therapeutic demand.  None of the 

allegation individually or collective establishes any actual risk to the public health and 

safety.   

2.  Novelty is likely to succeed in its action before this court to dissolve the 

suspension order.  Without restoration of Novelty’s distributor registration immediately 

and until the DEA issues a final order following a hearing and appeal, the company will 

be irreparably injured.  Its reputation among its thousands of convenience store customers 

as an exemplary distributor of cold and cough products containing list 1 chemicals will be 

destroyed due to the stigmatizing effect of the suspension order.  Customers are presently 

replacing Novelty with its competitors, who sell virtually identical cough and cold 

products containing list I chemicals.  Even if Novelty would later succeed on the order to 

show cause, the loss of those business relationships in the interim will likely be 

permanent.  With the suspension order in place Novelty is losing a key source of its gross 

revenue. Novelty has lost the value of its current scheduled listed chemical (SLC) product 
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inventory, which is sizeable and substantial.  Novelty will soon be forced to terminate 

employees at its Greenfield, Indiana headquarters to adjust for the loss of revenue. It has 

also been forced to cut its route sales professionals’ annual income to compensate for the 

revenue losses.  

3.  Novelty is also likely to succeed in establishing that its First Amendment 

rights have been violated.  DEA violated Novelty’s First Amendment rights during the 

execution of an administrative search warrant on Novelty’s headquarters on July 11, 

2007.  During DEA’s execution of the warrant, Novelty Vice President for Product JR 

Merlau placed upon a tripod video recorders and placed upon a table a tape recorder to 

make a permanent record for company executives, counsel, and the public of DEA’s 

execution of the warrant (and to preserve evidence for use by counsel), which involved 

demands for immediate production of over 12,000 documents (a physical impossibility) 

on threat of arrest.  DEA agents thrice took custody of the recorders, pulled one recorder 

from the wall, removed it from the room in which it was located, and ordered that the 

recording device not be used.  DEA now offers the documents and data obtained during 

the administrative search against Novelty in the administrative hearing and to support 

DEA’s immediate suspension. 

PARTIES 

4.  Novelty Distributors, Inc. d/b/a Greenfield Labs (“Novelty”). Novelty is an 

Indiana corporation with its principal place of business in Greenfield, Indiana.  Novelty 

was founded by Todd Green in 1980, then an enterprising high school student who sold 

hats made in his parents’ garage. From those humble origins, Novelty grew into a major 

supplier of convenience stores that employs 500 people, slightly less than 400 of whom 
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live in the Midwestern town of Greenfield, Indiana (about 8% of the total adult employed 

population).  Novelty Inc. has grown from a local Indianapolis area business operated in 

his childhood home to a 500 employee major national distributor.  Novelty distributes 

and sells a wide array of commercial goods to convenience stores throughout the United 

States, including sunglasses, lighters, key chains, plush toys, and OTC pharmaceuticals.  

Novelty services thousands of convenience store clients nationwide.  Among the 

pharmaceuticals sold and distributed by Novelty to convenience stores are OTC blister 

packs and single dose packages containing ephedrine (a bronchodilator) and guaifenesin 

(an expectorant).  Novelty also sells OTC products containing pseudoephedrine, a nasal 

decongestant.  The distribution and sale of those OTC pharmaceuticals accounts for a 

significant percentage of Novelty’s annual revenue. 

5.  Michele Leonhart.  The Defendant Michele Leonhart is sued in her official 

capacity only.  She is the Acting Administrator of the U.S. Drug Enforcement 

Administration, an agency of the U.S. Department of Justice. 

6. U.S. Drug Enforcement Administration.  The Defendant U.S. Drug 

Enforcement Administration (“DEA”) is an agency of the U.S. Department of Justice 

charged with enforcing the controlled substances laws and regulations of the United 

States.   

7.  U.S. Department of Justice.  The U.S. Department of Justice (“DOJ”) is the 

department of the executive branch of the United States charged with the duty of 

enforcing laws and regulations of the United States.  The DEA is a part of the DOJ. 

Case 1:08-cv-00635-RMC     Document 1      Filed 04/09/2008     Page 4 of 16



 5

8.   Michael Mukasey.  Michael Mukasey is the Attorney General of the United 

States.  He is sued in his official capacity only.  He is the head of the Department of 

Justice and the chief law enforcement officer of the United States. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

9.  This court has subject matter jurisdiction (1) under 28 U.S.C. § 1331 as this 

case concerns matters of federal law and under section 1346(a)(2) as a civil action against 

the United States founded upon an Act of Congress; and (2) under 21 U.S.C. § 824 (d) 

because DEA has acted to summarily suspend Novelty’s registration without affording 

Novelty advance notice.  21 U.S.C. § 824 (d) expressly authorizes jurisdiction before this 

court.  See Norman Bridge Drug Company v. Banner, 529 F.2d 822 (5th Cir. 1976).   

10.  This court is the proper venue for this action because the Defendants 

decisions and actions giving rise to this case, the revocation of Plaintiff’s registration, 

occurred in DEA’s Washington, D.C. offices.  28 U.S.C. § 1402(a)(2). 

FACTS 

11.  Ephedrine is approved by the Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”) as a 

bronchodilator active ingredient for sale in over-the-counter (“OTC”) cold and cough 

remedies.  21 C.F.R. § 341.16.   

12. Pseudoephedrine is approved by FDA as a decongestant active ingredient for 

sale in OTC cough and cold remedies.  21 C.F.R. § 341.20. 

13.  Ephedrine and pseudoephedrine are regulated by the DEA under the 

Controlled Substances Act (CSA) as List 1 chemicals (21 U.S.C. § 826; 21 C.F.R. 

§1310.02), under the Comprehensive Methamphetamine Control Act of 1996 (“CMCA”), 

21 U.S.C. § 802, et seq., and under the Methamphetamine Anti-Proliferation Act of 2000 
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(“MAPA”), Pub. L. No. 106-310, 114 Stat. 1277 (2000), and their respective 

implementing regulations.  More recently, Congress added restrictions on ephedrine in 

the USA Patriot Improvement and Reauthorization Act of 2005, Title VII, entitled 

“Combat Methamphetamine Epidemic Act of 2005” (“CMEA”), Pub. L. No. 109-177 

(enacted on March 9, 2006, amending the CSA). 

14.  Novelty first registered as a distributor of scheduled listed chemical (SLC) 

products containing ephedrine and pseudoephedrine in approximately 1996. 

15.  Novelty renewed its registration each year following its initial registration 

including for the 2007-2008 year.  Novelty’s registration was valid until October 31, 

2008. 

16. In 2004, Novelty filed suit in the U.S. District Court for the Northern 

District of Indiana, Novelty vs. Keisler, challenging a DEA letter implementing 

restrictions on shipping SLCs.  

17. On January 29, 2007, Novelty filed suit in the U.S. District Court for the 

District of Columbia, Novelty v. Tandy, challenging DEA’s denial of a Letter of No 

Objection to Novelty’s contract manufacturer for the importation of bulk ephedrine 

necessary to manufacture Novelty’s ephedrine SLC products. 

18. On July 5, 2007, Novelty requested an administrative hearing on an order 

to show cause denying Novelty and its contract importer, Spirit Pharmaceuticals, a 

LONO (Letter of No Objection), and on August 8, 2007, DEA denied Novelty a hearing 

on that decision, resulting in an appeal by Novelty to the U.S. Court of Appeals, District 

of Columbia Circuit (Case no. 07-1334, docketed on August 23, 2007).  
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19. Beginning on July 9, 2007 and continuing for multiple days, DEA 

conducted an inspection of Novelty’s Greenfield Indiana headquarters.   

20.  On January 23, 2008, Novelty filed a Petition for Review in the Court of 

Appeals for the District of Columbia seeking appellate review of DEA’s Annual 

Assessment of Needs.  Novelty contested DEA’s determination of certain ephedrine and 

pseudoephedrine data used to factor the Annual Assessment of Needs (“AAN”) for 

ephedrine products.  

21.  On January 28, 2007, less than one week after receiving Novelty’s petition 

for appellate review, representatives from DEA’s Chicago Field Office of Diversion 

Investigation appeared at Novelty’s Greenfield, Indiana facilities and served an order to 

show cause and immediate suspension of Novelty’s DEA registration.  A copy of that 

document is attached as Exhibit 1. 

22.  DEA has placed Novelty’s list 1 chemical inventory under seal, locking it in 

Novelty’s warehouse facility.   

23.  Novelty’s inventory of list 1 chemicals held under seal is sizable and 

represents a substantial investment of capital.  

24.  Novelty endeavors to cooperate with DEA and has offered to accept several 

conditions on its registration to accommodate DEA concerns, but DEA has chosen 

instead to suspend Novelty’s registration.   

CAUSE OF ACTION 1:  DEA’S IMMEDIATE SUSPENSION ORDER 
VIOLATES THE APA AND THE DUE PROCESS CLAUSE 

 
25.  Novelty re-alleges the allegations contained in paragraphs 1 through 24 

above. 
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23.  DEA acted arbitrarily, capriciously, and in violation of Novelty’s Due 

Process rights by issuing an immediate suspension order without demonstrating that 

Novelty’s continued registration posed an imminent harm to the public.  See 21 U.S.C. § 

824 (d); Norman Bridge Co. v. Banner, 529 F.2d 822 (5th Cir. 1976).   

24.  All eight grounds in the order to show cause and immediate suspension 

order fail on the facts and as alleged to constitute an imminent threat to public health and 

safety necessary to justify the immediate suspension. 

25. First, the Deputy Administrator charges Novelty with violating 21 USC 

822(c); 21 CFR 1309.21 and 1309.23(a);(b)(1) on the argument that Novelty’s route sales 

professionals distribute SLCs from unregistered locations.  Exhibit 1 at 1.  Novelty 

Transportation carries all Novelty products, including SLCs, from Novelty’s DEA 

registered plant to locations at which the contents are off-loaded from Novelty trucks and 

put onto Novelty route sales professionals’ trucks for ultimate delivery to convenience 

stores.  All of the inventory remains under Novelty control and is not taken off of 

Novelty’s trucks except to be put on other Novelty trucks.  SLC goods are not stored at 

those locations.  Moreover, the facts of this allegation have been the subject of litigation, 

currently ongoing, between the parties since 2004 in Novelty v. Kiesler in the United 

States District Court for the Northern District of Indiana.  Thus, this allegation does not 

present an imminent danger to the public health and safety. 

26. Second, the Deputy Administrator charges Novelty with distributing 22 

bottles of ephedrine products found by DEA in a Connecticut meth lab in 2002, six years 

ago. Although DEA has not provided Novelty with any of the evidence upon which this 

charge is based (itself a violation of Due Process and abuse of agency discretion), 
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Novelty is prepared to respond to the charge concerning the 22 bottles with the results of 

its own investigation.  The 22 bottles of ephedrine found in the Connecticut meth lab 

were not the Novelty brand.  They were the brand of DMD Pharmaceuticals.  DMD 

Pharmaceuticals did work as a contract manufacturer from which Novelty purchased 

products prior to introducing its own private label brand.  The 22 bottles bore the label of 

DMD Pharmaceuticals and a single lot number.  Novelty has seen no proof that the entire 

production by DMD Pharmaceuticals bearing that lot number was sold to Novelty or in 

particular, that the 22 bottles in question, were ever actually in Novelty’s possession, as 

opposed to stolen from DMD.  Thus, that allegation is not capable of supporting a claim 

that Novelty’s continued registration represents any present, imminent danger to public 

health and safety. 

27. Third, the Deputy Administrator charges Novelty with selling quantitative 

amounts of SLCs in excess of that appropriate to meet legitimate, therapeutic demand.  

Emory University Professor of Law and Economics Joanna Sheppard has established that 

the empirical evidence of the incidence of asthma and upper respiratory infections and 

ailments in the United States establishes a level of demand far higher than DEA supposes 

exists.  Jonathan Robbin, upon whom DEA relies, has grossly underestimated demand 

through a flawed analysis.  Based on an analysis of real market demand, Shepherd proves 

groundless the contention that the aggregate amounts Novelty sells are in excess of 

legitimate demand.  Thus, that allegation is not capable of supporting a claim that 

Novelty’s continued registration represents an imminent danger to public health and 

safety. 
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28. Fourth, the Deputy Administrator charges that some of Novelty’s retail 

store customers may have sold amounts in single transactions in excess of the per person 

sales limits specified in the Combat Methamphetamine Act (incorporated into the CSA).  

Novelty has never authorized or condoned the sale of any SLCs to consumers in amounts 

that exceed lawful limits.  If DEA has evidence of specific customers of Novelty who are 

violating the law, it does not give that information to Novelty except on rare occasions.  

If DEA had given Novelty that information, it would cut off sales to the store or stores in 

question.  Shortly after passage of the Combat Meth Act, Novelty produced an 

educational video series for all of its retail customers.  That expensive, serious campaign 

to educate retailers shows that Novelty is doing its best to maximize the likelihood that 

those to whom it sells understand and follow the law.   Because, like most distributor 

registrants, Novelty does not own, operate, or control the retail stores it serves, it cannot 

force the stores to follow the law but it can refuse to supply ones that do not.  Thus, that 

allegation is not capable of supporting a claim that Novelty’s continued registration 

represents an imminent danger to public health and safety. 

29. Fifth, the Deputy Administrator charges that Novelty has failed to keep 

accurate records as required in 21 USC 823 and 824.  In particular, DEA alleges that 

60,000 dosage units of two Novelty ephedrine products are unaccounted for and that 

overages for 16 different SLCs exist.  DEA’s reviewers left out several data entries 

which, when included, show the 60,000 dosage unit figure and the overages to be 

erroneous.  The problem is complicated further by basic math errors that the reviewers 

made. Thus, that allegation is not capable of supporting a claim that Novelty’s continued 

registration represents an imminent danger to public health and safety.  
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30. DEA alleges that between January 1, 2007 through July 9, 2007 Novelty 

distributed SLC products on at least 284 occasions to 35 retail outlets that were not self 

certified under 21 U.S.C. 830(e)(1)(A)(vii) and that distributing SLC products to retailers 

that are not self-certified is conduct that “is inconsistent with the public interest.”  Exhibit 

1 at 2.  The charge is false.  Before Novelty contracts with any convenience store for sale 

of SLCs, Novelty insists on confirmation of self-certification.  Every one of the 35 stores 

in question has given Novelty assurance of self-certification.  From January 1 to July 9, 

2007, all 35 allegedly not self-certified were in fact self-certified.  Moreover, if DEA 

were right in the charge, if one or more of Novelty’s customers had in fact not filed the 

self-certification but confirmed the contrary to Novelty, Novelty would cut off that 

customer.  But, DEA has never apprised Novelty of the names of any retail outlets it has 

served that DEA deemed not self-certified.  The contention first appears in the Show 

Cause Order.  Moreover, there is neither a statutory nor regulatory requirement that 

distributors determine if retailers, holding themselves out as self certified, actually are.  

Indeed, DEA’s failure to maintain the self-certification filing system has made it difficult 

for retailers to obtain their own verifications and DEA does not provide access to its 

records of retailers that have filed.  Thus, this allegation is not capable of sustaining the 

conclusion that Novelty’s continued registration is an imminent threat to public health 

and safety. 

31. Seventh, DEA alleges that Novelty distributed 24 count bottles of 

scheduled listed chemical products on three occasions to retail outlets after February 1, 

2007 in violation of the statutory requirement that all non-liquid SLC products be sold in 

blister packs containing no more than two dosage units per blister.  Novelty in fact did 
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not sell any 24-count bottles of SLCs after April 9, 2006.  Indeed, it returned products to 

the manufacturer, last shipped the product to Novelty sales people more than 13 months 

prior to the alleged sale, and has confirmed with each location that none has record of the 

alleged retail sales transactions.  Thus, this allegation is not capable of sustaining the 

conclusion that Novelty’s continued registration is an imminent threat to public health 

and safety. 

 32. Eighth, the Deputy Administrator charges that Novelty distributed tablet 

form scheduled listed chemical products to retail outlets in two states, Kentucky and 

North Carolina, that prohibit the sale of non-liquid ephedrine and pseudoephedrine except 

in a gel-cap product.  Novelty did not sell any tablet form SLCs in retail outlets located in 

Kentucky and North Carolina in violation of state law.  The last time product was shipped 

was 13 months prior to the alleged sale, and Novelty’s customers have confirmed that 

they have no sales transactions for those items.  Thus, this allegation is not capable of 

sustaining the conclusion that Novelty’s continued registration is an imminent threat to 

public health and safety. 

33.  On the foregoing facts, DEA lacks proof of any imminent danger to public 

health and safety.  DEA’s evidence does not justify DEA’s destruction of Novelty’s 

business and DEA’s forced unemployment of Novelty’s workforce.    Thus the immediate 

suspension is arbitrary and capricious agency action and should be set aside in 

accordance with 5 U.S.C. § 706 (2)(b), the Administrative Procedure Act.  

34.  Novelty has a liberty and property interest in its continued registration as a 

SLC distributor.  DEA suspended Novelty’s registration without the requisite statutory 
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burden of showing imminent harm.  Only showing imminent harm could justify 

deprivation of Novelty’s liberty and property interest without due process of law.   

35. DEA has unlawfully suspended Novelty’s registration without providing 

Novelty an opportunity to challenge the suspension as required by the Administrative 

Procedure Act and the Due Process Clause of the United States Constitution.  See 5 

U.S.C. § 706 (2); U.S. CONST. amend. V.   The suspension of Novelty’s registration has a 

stigmatizing effect on Novelty’s reputation in the industry that is depriving Novelty of 

the economic value of its property and is destroying Novelty’s business, substantially 

diminishing it ability to compete in novelty item sales.  

CAUSE OF ACTION 2:  DEA VIOLATES NOVELTY’S DUE PROCESS 
RIGHTS BY DENYING NOVELTY A FAIR HEARING 

 
36.  Novelty re-alleges the allegations contained in paragraphs 1 though 35 above.  

37.  DEA deprives Novelty of its right to Due Process because Novelty is not 

being provided a “fair” and “impartial” hearing as required by DEA regulations, the 

Administrative Procedure Act, and the Due Process clause of the United States 

Constitution.  See 21 C.F.R. § 1316.52 (requiring “fair” hearing); 5 U.S.C. § 556 (b); 

U.S. CONST. amend. V.   

38.  Novelty’s hearing at the administrative level is overrun with prejudgment 

bias.  DEA’s system of adjudication in convenience store cases suffers from a lack of 

impartiality because the Administrator is intent on eradicating, in an anticompetitive 

manner, lawful sales of SLC products in convenience store markets, but permitting 

continuation of those sales in pharmacies, big box stores, and grocery stores.  The 

Administrator has predetermined facts at issue in Novelty’s case, rendering impossible a 
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fair hearing on the merits.  Accordingly, Novelty cannot receive a fair hearing as 

guaranteed by the Due Process. 

39.  The Administrator lacks sufficient separation between her roles as an 

investigator, prosecutor, and judge of Novelty’s matter now before her.  The 

Administrator issued the Order to Show Cause and will now preside over the final 

determination regarding whether the government meets its burden by a preponderance of 

the evidence.  This unbridled discretion, lack of separation between roles, and 

Administrator bias violate the Due Process clause.  See Withrow v. Larkin, 421 U.S. 35, 

57-58 (1975) (combination of functions plus additional showing of bias violates due 

process). 

CAUSE OF ACTION 3:  DEA VIOLATED NOVELTY’S FIRST AMENDMENT 
RIGHT TO MAKE A CONTEMPORANEOUS RECORD 

 
40.  Novelty re-alleges the allegations contained in paragraphs 1 through 39 

above. 

41.  DEA violated Novelty’s rights under the First Amendment to the United 

States Constitution by preventing Novelty from recording the DEA agents execution of 

the July 2007 administrative search warrant.   

42.  A party has an absolute First Amendment right to videotape inspections 

including those involving law enforcement activities.  See Robinson v. Fetterman, 378 

F.Supp. 2d 534, 541 (E.D. Pa. 2005).  By preventing Novelty from videotaping the events 

occurring at Novelty’s own business location, DEA violated Novelty’s right to obtain a 

contemporaneous record.   

43.  Videotaping of the execution of an administrative search warrant is a 

protected right under the First Amendment.  Denying that right also has the effect in this 
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case of obstructing the effective representation of counsel by denying counsel a complete 

contemporaneous record of the events taking place.   

44.  DEA agents possessed no blanket regulatory authority, rule, or court order 

permitting them to take custody of, interfere with, or halt the making of such a record.  

Yet DEA agents twice took custody of Novelty’s video-recording equipment when 

Novelty representatives attempted to record the events as they transpired. 

RELIEF REQUESTED 

 45.  Plaintiffs respectfully request that this Honorable Court: 

 46.  Declare in accordance with 28 U.S.C. § 2201 that Novelty has a right to 

continue distributing ephedrine products during the pendency of the administrative 

process, and before DEA has proven by a preponderance of the evidence that Novelty’s 

registration is against the public interest. 

 47.  Declare in accordance with 28 U.S.C. § 2201 that DEA’s immediate 

suspension of Novelty’s registration was arbitrary and capricious in violation of the APA 

because DEA cannot establish that Novelty’s continued registration during the 

administrative process is against the public interest.  

 48. Declare in accordance with 28 U.S.C. § 2201 that DEA violates Novelty’s 

right to Due Process by failing to provide a fair and impartial hearing to determine 

Novelty’s registration status as required under DEA regulations, the APA, and the United 

States Constitution. 

 49.  Declare in accordance with 28 U.S.C. § 2201 that DEA violated Novelty’s 

First Amendment right to obtain a contemporaneous record of events for itself and the 

public during DEA’s execution of the July 2007 administrative search warrant. 
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